

The School of Public Health Master of Public Health Program

INTERNSHIP MANUAL

(MPHC 8722)



Table of Contents

| Purpose | 3 |
|--|----|
| Goals of the Internship | 3 |
| MPH Concentration Specific Competencies | 3 |
| Health Informatics | 3 |
| Health Management | 4 |
| Social and Behavioral Sciences | 4 |
| MPH Foundational Competencies Reinforced | 4 |
| Internship Requirements | 5 |
| Roles and Responsibilities of Involved Parties | 6 |
| Internship Timeline | 7 |
| Affiliation Agreements | 8 |
| Establishing Internship Goals & Objectives | 8 |
| Weekly Progress Reports | 9 |
| Site-Visit or Conference Call (optional) | 9 |
| Internship Final Report | 9 |
| Final Evaluations | 11 |
| Preceptor Evaluation of the Intern | 11 |
| Student's Self-Evaluation of Internship Experience and Organizational Assessment | 11 |
| Final Grading | 11 |
| Relevant Policies and Procedures | 11 |
| Confidentiality of Records and Georgia Open Records Act | 11 |
| FERPA – Right to Privacy | 12 |
| Unsatisfactory Academic Standing | 12 |
| Student Conduct Policies | 12 |
| Criminal Background Checks | 13 |
| Violations of Internship Expectations | 14 |
| Appendix A: Internship Work Plan | 15 |
| Appendix B: MPH Internship Abstract Form | 16 |
| Appendix C: MPH Internship Confirmation Form | 21 |
| Appendix D: MPH Internship Rules | 22 |
| Appendix E: MPH Internship Time Log | 23 |
| Appendix F: Preceptor's Evaluation of MPH Intern (Mid-term) | 24 |
| Appendix G: Preceptor's Evaluation of MPH Intern (Final) | 25 |
| Appendix H: Intern's Evaluation of the Internship | 30 |



Introduction

This manual is intended to provide clear and concise guidance to MPH students in selecting and completing a Public Health Internship. The MPH Internship must be in partnership with a public health organization, such as a community-based organization, clinical/healthcare setting, school-based setting, federal/state/local public health agency, or research institution.

The MPH Internship is intended to offer hands-on experiences in the field of public health while blending practical skills with academic learning. The Internship aims to afford students with opportunities to apply and test public health concepts and theories in realistic settings, and improve knowledge related to core public health competencies and concentration-specific competencies. The MPH Internship allows students to enhance the skills needed to become successful in their chosen fields. Students will continue to develop and grow their knowledge, skills, and competencies as lifelong learners of public health.

This Internship Manual is also available to students via the program website (Programs-> MPH-> Current Students) and serves as a reading requirement for the Internship course, MPHC 8722.

Purpose

The MPH Internship offers practical learning experiences in public health, specifically in the areas of Health Informatics and Health Management. The Internship is supervised by the MPH Internship Coordinator (an MPH faculty member) in consultation with a qualified preceptor at the internship site and the student's Academic Advisor. The Site Preceptor plays a crucial role in ensuring that the student receives hands-on field experience in public health and attains the internship goals and objectives identified at the onset.

Goals of the Internship

The broad goals of the Internship are to enable the intern to:

- 1. Establish, implement, and evaluate learning goals and objectives;
- 2. Integrate public health theory with community-based practice;
- 3. Expand understanding of the role of health-related agencies in the community setting;
- Gain an understanding of the organization and policy issues, administration, research, funding sources, program activities and evaluation, and challenges faced by community health organizations;
- 5. Improve communication and professional skills through on-the-job training;
- 6. Assume specific roles and responsibilities for planning, implementing, administering, and/or evaluating some particular part of the agency's program(s);
- 7. Analyze the role of public health in agency activities and the health of the community.

MPH Concentration Specific Competencies

Health Informatics

- 1. Assess key characteristics, functionalities, and infrastructures of health information systems and technology to improve health care and population health.
- 2. Discuss the role and applications of public health informatics in advancing public health practice and improving health outcomes.
- 3. Analyze secondary survey data to research and address a public health question.
- 4. Design statistical analyses to answer major public health questions using publicly available data sources.
- 5. Design data management processes to collect, organize, analyze, and interpret public health data.



Health Management

- 1. Identify evolving areas related to employee relations, including risk management, health and safety issues, OSHA compliance requirements, workplace security, employee rights and discipline, and basic laws and regulations governing union/management relations in the United States.
- 2. Examine the role of financial management within health care organizations; the role of accounting within financial management; and the use of electronic spreadsheets in financial accounting.
- 3. Demonstrate understanding of the financial environment of health care organizations, including key accounting concepts, key financial statements, valuation of assets and equities, recording financial information, and the role of the outside auditor.
- 4. Apply principles of strategic planning and management in public health and health care administration.
- 5. Describe principles and policies of total quality management as applied to health care administration.

Social and Behavioral Sciences

- 1. Identify basic theories, concepts, and models from a range of social and behavioral disciplines used in public health research practice.
- 2. Identify the causes of social and behavioral factors that affect health of individuals and populations. Identify individual, organizational and community concerns, assets, resources and deficits for social and behavioral science interventions.
- **3.** Identify critical stakeholders for planning, implementing, and evaluating public health programs, policies, and interventions.
- **4.** Describe steps and procedures for planning, implementing, and evaluating public health programs, policies, and interventions.
- **5.** Describe the role of social and community factors in both the onset and solution of public health problems. Describe the merits of social and behavioral sciences interventions and policies.

MPH Foundational Competencies Reinforced

The MPH Internship will reinforce some or all the following competencies from the MPH program:

Evidence-based Approaches to Public Health

- 1. Apply epidemiological methods to the breadth of settings and situations in public health practice.
- 2. Select quantitative and qualitative data collection methods appropriate for a given public health context.
- 3. Analyze quantitative and qualitative data using biostatistics, informatics, and computer-based programming and software, as appropriate.
- 4. Interpret results of data analysis for public health research, policy or practice.

Public Health & Health Care Systems

- 5. Compare the organization, structure and function of health care, public health, and regulatory systems across national and international settings.
- 6. Discuss how structural bias, social inequities and racism undermine health and create challenges to achieving health equity at organizational, community and societal levels.

Planning & Management to Promote Health

- 7. Assess population needs, assets and capacities that affect communities' health.
- 8. Apply awareness of cultural values and practices to the design or implementation of public health policies or programs.



- 9. Design a population-based policy, program, project, or intervention.
- 10. Explain basic principles and tools of budget and resource management.
- 11. Select methods to evaluate public health programs.

Policy in Public Health

- 12. Discuss multiple dimensions of the policy-making process, including the roles of ethics and evidence.
- 13. Propose strategies to identify stakeholders and build coalitions and partnerships for influencing public health outcomes.
- 14. Advocate for political, social, or economic policies and programs that will improve health in diverse populations.
- 15. Evaluate policies for their impact on public health and health equity leadership
- 16. Apply principles of leadership, governance, and management, which include creating a vision, empowering others, fostering collaboration and guiding decision making.
- 17. Apply negotiation and mediation skills to address organizational or community challenges

Communication

- 18. Select communication strategies for different audiences and sectors.
- 19. Communicate audience-appropriate public health content, both in writing and through oral presentation.
- 20. Describe the importance of cultural competence in communicating public health content.

Interprofessional Practice

21. Perform effectively on interprofessional teams.

Systems Thinking

22. Apply systems thinking tools to a public health issue.

Internship Requirements

The emphasis of the MPH Internship is to integrate newly acquired skills and knowledge into professional practice. All MPH students are required to complete the MPH Internship, MPHC 8722. There is no exception. Students must have completed a minimum of 12 credit hours in the MPH program before enrolling in the Internship. MPH Internship is a 2-credit hour course, which requires a minimum of 75 hours of field experience over one full semester (16 weeks in Fall/Spring and 12 weeks in Summer).

The MPH Internship Coordinator manages enrollment in MPHC 8722 – MPH Internship. The Internship Coordinator will email all registered students in the preceding semester. In this correspondence, the MPH Internship Coordinator will provide students with a copy of this Internship Manual and instructions on establishing an MOU with their chosen internship site. Students are responsible for identifying, contacting the site and arranging for the Internship in advance of registering for the Internship semester.

1. MPH students are expected to identify an organization and establish an agreement to complete the Internship. The Internship is subject to approval by the student's Academic Advisor and the Internship Coordinator.

A student can fulfill the Internship experience in their place of employment based upon specific guidelines to promote optimal learning for students in such circumstances:

- a. The Internship responsibilities are outside the scope of their current duties and responsibilities.
- b. The Site Preceptor is not the student's current supervisor.
- 2. Once the student has identified a practice site prior to registering for MPHC 8722, the student must develop a detailed work plan (Appendix A), including specific/customized learning objectives to be accomplished during the Internship in consultation with the Site Preceptor. The work plan will include the learning objectives of the Internship and must be approved by the Site



Preceptor, Academic Advisor, and Internship Coordinator before starting the Internship. The goal of this process is to ensure that both the student and the Internship organization benefit from the arrangement. Once the Internship Coordinator and Academic Advisor approve the objectives, the Internship Confirmation Form (Appendix B) will be used to confirm the final work plan.

- 3. The following forms must be completed and submitted to the internship coordinator and MPH program Coordinator in the semester prior to the internship course:
 - a. (1) the Work Plan (Appendix A), approved by the student and preceptor
 - b. (2) the Internship Confirmation Form (Appendix B),
 - c. (3) the Abstract Form (Appendix C) approved by the student's Academic Advisor,
 - d. (4) the MPH Internship Rules (Appendix D) signed by the student and
 - e. (5) the new contract form (Appendix I). The new contract form is <u>required</u> in order to establish an MOU between Augusta University and the student's internship site. <u>The student will not be able to begin their internship experience until the MOU is in place</u>. This process can take weeks to months. As such, students should make all efforts to have the new contract form submitted well in advance of the course start date.
- 4. The student will complete 75 hours of field experience within the selected organization during the semester of enrollment in the MPHC 8722 course.
- 5. The student will electronically submit progress reports to the MPH Internship Coordinator via Desire-to-Learn (D2L).
- 6. Throughout the Internship, the student is required to keep a record of the Internship Time Log (Appendix E). This time log will be signed by the Site Preceptor and then submitted to the Internship Coordinator via D2L at the end of the semester.
- 7. If necessary, the MPH Internship Coordinator may request a site visit or a video chat with the Site Preceptor during the internship.
- 8. By mid-term, the Internship Coordinator will request the Site Preceptor's Evaluation of the Intern (Appendix F) to report on the student's progress. It is the student's responsibility to work with the Site Preceptor to complete this form in a timely manner. The student will upload the Midterm Evaluation via D2L.
- 9. The student will prepare a final report describing their internship experience, which will be evaluated by the MPH Internship Coordinator.
- 10. At the end of the semester, the Preceptor will be requested by the internship coordinator to assess the student (Appendix G) and submit their evaluation through Qualtrics. It is the student's responsibility to ensure that the preceptor completes this evaluation.
- 11. The student will complete a self-evaluation of the Internship experience as well as an organizational assessment using a structured assessment tool (Appendix H), and submit the evaluation through Qualtrics.
- 12. The Internship Coordinator will assign a grade of Satisfactory/Unsatisfactory after evaluating the student's overall performance.

Roles and Responsibilities of Involved Parties

- Student: Graduate students are expected to take the initiative in identifying an appropriate
 organization, and initiating, planning, and executing the Internship in a timely manner. This
 requirement ensures that the organization selected is the most appropriate to assist the student in
 integrating and applying his or her knowledge and skills in a practice setting consistent with the
 student's chosen concentration. The Internship will enable interactions that can enhance the
 student's employability following graduation.
- 2. **Internship Coordinator:** The Internship Coordinator's role is to provide the student and the Preceptor with copies of the MPH Internship Manual and Syllabus; ensure that students complete



all the required steps in the Internship process, including the paperwork necessary for successful completion of the Internship; and maintain record keeping of all internship documents. The Internship Coordinator is also responsible for entering the student's final grade into the system.

- Academic Advisor: The Academic Advisor's key role is to advise students in identifying participating
 organizations and productive practical experiences in line with the student's concentration and
 career aspirations. They also provide mentoring support to understand the Internship's
 requirements, including competencies and their integration into the practicum along with report
 writing.
- 4. **Site Preceptor:** The Site Preceptor is responsible for student learning during the Internship. Site preceptors preferably have a graduate degree in public health. However, individuals who work in public health, and have an undergraduate degree with relevant professional certification (e.g., Certified Industrial Hygienist—CIH, Certified Health Education Specialist—CHES, etc.) are also acceptable.

Internship Timeline

At least two months prior to the start of the Internship:

- 1. The student should contact the Internship Coordinator to review the Internship Manual. Students are responsible for identifying a site and Preceptor, discussing a broad (initial) work plan with the Preceptor and sharing it with their Academic Advisor and Internship Coordinator.
- 2. Students must complete and submit the New Contract Form (Appendix I) to the Internship Coordinator and MPH Program Coordinator. This contract form is used to establish the MOU agreement between internship placement sites and Augusta University. Contact information must be provided for the signing authority at the internship site. This individual may or may not be the Preceptor.
- 3. Augusta University and the Internship site selected must meet all requirements stipulated in the college-agency affiliation agreement before the student is cleared to begin an internship.
- 4. The student is responsible for complying with any additional requirements of the agency prior to being cleared to begin the Internship.
- 5. The student may share a copy of the internship manual with their designated preceptor.

One month prior to the start of the Internship:

1. Ensure that all documentation has been officially generated for placement at the agency. Once all the prerequisites are complete and the Internship placement is confirmed, the student can begin the Internship. Please note that students who are unofficially volunteering at an agency are not officially in a recognized Internship until a formal agreement is in place with the selected agency.

One week prior to starting the Internship:

- 1. The student must submit customized learning objectives for the Internship in consultation with the Site Preceptor and Academic Advisor and develop a detailed work plan with final approvals from all parties involved including the Site Preceptor, Academic Advisor, and Internship Coordinator.
- 2. The student is required to sign the MPH Internship Rules before beginning the Internship.
- 3. The student must submit completed and signed appendices A-D to the Internship Coordinator.

During the Internship:

1. At the end of each week, the student will submit a brief progress report on Desire2Learn (D2L).



These will be saved and included in the final report.

2. At mid-term, the student is expected to work with the Preceptor to complete the Midterm Evaluation form and submit the form to the Internship Coordinator by the established due date.

The final week of the Internship:

The following items must be submitted to the Internship Coordinator during the last week of the Internship.

- i. Time Log signed by the Site Preceptor.
- ii. Final Internship Report via D2L.
- iii. Preceptor's evaluation of the intern via Qualtrics.
- iv. Student's self-evaluation of Internship experience and organizational assessment via Qualtrics.

Affiliation Agreements

The affiliation agreement process (between AU and the internship site) can take as little as two months or longer depending on the levels of approval required by the Internship site to complete legal requirements.

- 1. No student will be officially placed in an internship until an agreement is signed, and the student has completed all requirements outlined in the agreement.
- 2. Students are strongly encouraged to plan well ahead of time, due to the unpredictability of the timeline in securing an affiliation agreement.
- 3. Many organizations require criminal background checks, drug screens, proof of immunization, and other organizational-specific requirements. You will be responsible for complying with organizational requirements as requested.

Establishing Internship Goals & Objectives

The student is responsible for developing and honing customized goals and objectives for the Internship as well as seeking approvals from all parties (i.e., the Site Preceptor, the Academic Advisor, and the Internship Coordinator) before starting the Internship. The student may use the MPHC 8722 course syllabus and the MPH Manual as guides to develop goals in consultation with the Site Preceptor, Academic Advisor, and Internship Coordinator. Internship goals must be consistent with the MPH program competencies and the relevant concentration (i.e., Health Informatics, Health Management, Social and Behavioral Sciences). Once goals are established, the student will develop learning objectives to track progress toward each goal. Bloom's taxonomy of learning objectives may be consulted with a focus on levels 4-6 (application- synthesis-evaluation). Student objectives should reflect higher-order learning, including "Plan, Assess, Evaluate, Design, Develop, Deliver, Manage, Implement, Report, Analyze, and Prepare." Evidence could include reports, presentations, photographs, and other indicators of service delivery.

Once the student and Site Preceptor have reached preliminary agreements, a completed work plan articulating the mutually agreed upon goals and other agency-specific details must be sent to the Academic Advisor and the Internship Coordinator for approval; the Internship Coordinator will officially confirm that the Internship has been established.

Weekly Progress Reports

During the Internship, students must submit weekly reports updating their progress to the Internship Coordinator. These periodic reports should summarize the following:



- Key activities conducted or completed during the period.
- Progress towards stated goals and objectives.
- Barriers (if any) to project completion and learning experiences

Students must submit the reports via D2L. The reports should not be formal or lengthy; instead, they should be relevant, concise, and succinct. As a guide, students should not need more than 30 minutes to complete the report. These reports should be saved and aggregated to be included as a single appendix in the final report.

Site-Visit or Conference Call (optional)

During the Internship, the Internship Coordinator may request a brief meeting with the intern and the Preceptor. For Internships outside the Augusta area, a phone call or videoconference may be substituted. Meetings are routinely held with first-time preceptors/agency placements. The meeting usually has the following purposes.

- 1. Ensure the intern is engaged at the site and that the site is providing the experience agreed upon.
- 2. To address any questions, concerns, and suggestions the Preceptor or intern might have about the Internship.
- 3. Review course deliverables and or expectations for the final report, evaluations, and other topics of importance to the Preceptor or student.

Internship Final Report

The final Internship report is a substantial assignment, comparable to a capstone project. Students are required to develop the final report to demonstrate the accomplishment of learning objectives, following the format below.

- 1. **Title Page**: State a concise, professional, descriptive title for the internship project, including the project title, site name, name(s) of the Preceptor, course number, and semester (e.g., Fall 2024).
- 2. **Executive Summary**: Describe the internship experience, the essential results, and conclusions in about 500 words (double-spaced). Use subheadings for Objectives, Methods, Results, and Discussion to organize the content.
- 3. **Table of Contents**: Include a succinct Table of Contents with pages indicated for key sections.
- 4. Introduction: Provide the background and purpose of the Internship experience.
- 5. Goals and Objectives: Indicate the customized Internship goals and objectives in narrative form.
- 6. **Literature Review**: Provide a review and synthesis of the literature pertaining to the organization, population, and problems that are relevant to the Internship.
- 7. **Methods**: Provide an organizational summary paragraph for the content that follows in this section:
 - a. Setting Describe the Internship site.
 - b. Opportunities and constraints Describe the steps taken toward achieving each objective and the barriers faced (if any) to attaining objectives.
 - c. Preceptor Describe the role of the Internship preceptor(s) at the agency or organization. Describe

8. The Preceptor's education and experience.

- a. Timeline Summarize the major events and describe the progress made during the Internship (as evidenced by submitted weekly progress reports).
- b. Results Provide an overview of your results then review and summarize each objective and how they were accomplished.



Synthesis – Be objective, integrate, and reflect on how the Internship experience may relate to:

- i. The literature review
- ii. MPH coursework
- iii. Opportunities for applying classroom skills
- iv. Enhance your training in the MPH program
- 9. **Discussion and Conclusions**: Summarize general conclusions drawn from the Internship experience. Describe any new avenues of inquiry that the Internship experience generated. Describe any observation of operational or practice issues that may affect future project selection.
 - a. Socialization: Describe the socialization experience(s) provided by the Internship.
 - b. Mentorship: Discuss mentorship opportunities gained from the Internship.
 - c. Leadership: Discuss opportunities provided by the Internship to learn about leadership and decision-making.
 - d. Improvement: Describe shortcomings and provide recommendations for improving the Internship experience and/or student academic preparation.
- 10. **References**: (A minimum of 10 references are required). Literature referenced in the report should be consistent with the American Psychological Association (APA) Seventh Edition style or another widely accepted style used within the professional setting.
- 11. **Appendices**: Include copies of tangible products of the Internship experience. Also, include a comprehensive but brief account of your progress reports. These appendices will illustrate that the student met and accomplished the objectives of the Internship. The student may need to obtain agency and/or Preceptor permission to utilize certain documentation, ensuring that the agency or its clients' confidentiality/proprietary interests are maintained.
- 12. **Final Report Presentation**: Your report is expected to be between 14 to 18 pages long, excluding the title page, Executive Summary, and appendices. The report should be double-spaced, using Times New Roman, 12-point font. Use 1-inch margins on all sides. Include page numbers beginning with the Executive Summary. The report should be submitted to the Internship Coordinator and Academic Advisor through the D2L drop box.



Final Evaluations

Preceptor Evaluation of the Intern

At the end of the Internship, the student must ensure that the Preceptor completes an evaluation of the intern sent to them through Qualtrics.

Student's Self-Evaluation of Internship Experience and Organizational Assessment

At the end of the internship, the student is requested to complete an evaluation of the internship experience through Qualtrics.

Final Grading

MPHC 8722 – MPH Internship is evaluated by the Internship Coordinator? using a Satisfactory/Unsatisfactory grading scale. The student must fulfill all the below criteria to receive a Satisfactory final grade.

- Final Internship Report Compliant with the requirements detailed in this internship manual
- Progress Reports Completion of at least 10 reports.
- Time Logs Fulfilment of required hours with the Preceptor's approval.
- Mid-term Evaluation Completion of the assessment with the Preceptor's approval.
- Preceptor Evaluation of the Intern Achievement of 3 or higher on a 5-point performance rating scale in all areas and an average of 3.75 or higher on a 5-point scale.
- Intern's Self-Evaluation and Organizational Assessment Completion of the self-assessment.

The purpose of the Internship is to determine a student's ability to:

- Apply learned concepts and skills to a practical setting
- Accept responsibility, assess situations, make or recommend decisions based on the assessment, and evaluate the effectiveness of his/her work.
- Adapt well to work in difficult situations, manage time effectively and use the agency resources, procedures and structure effectively.
- Communicate effectively both orally and in writing
- Present ideas, negotiate and resolve conflicts in a professional manner
- Work effectively in diverse task-oriented groups, and
- Adhere to commitments made to the agency, colleagues, and clients with professional integrity

Relevant Policies and Procedures

All MPH students are expected to know and follow applicable program policies and procedures. "Not knowing" does not excuse a violation. Students are also expected to know and abide by the policies and procedures outlined by the School of Public Health, The Graduate School, and Augusta University.

Confidentiality of Records and Georgia Open Records Act

Refer to AU Student Manual: https://augustauniversity.app.box.com/v/student-manual

Students have the right to restrict the release of information or authorize the release of information to specified individuals. To restrict the release of your information, complete the FERPA Opt-Out Form. Requesting confidential status will prevent employees of Augusta University from providing any directory or confidential information to you or other parties. When a confidentiality restriction is in place, Augusta University can only discuss a student's information with the student, and the student must provide a state-issued picture identification for information to be discussed or if the student wants to remove the restriction. To remove the confidential status, complete the bottom of the FERPA Opt-Out Form. Students



may complete a FERPA consent form to authorize the release of their academic record information to specific individuals named in the release by completing the Authorization to Release Information Form.

FERPA - Right to Privacy

Federal Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) of 1974 protects the privacy of student records and regulates how the information is utilized.

AU FERPA Records Policy: https://www.augusta.edu/compliance/policyinfo/policy/university-ferpa-records.pdf

Unsatisfactory Academic Standing

- Academic Suspension and Dismissal: For dismissal and suspension policies, refer to AU Student Manual at https://augustauniversity.app.box.com/v/student-manual
- Notification of Unsatisfactory Progress: The Registrar's Office will inform a student in writing of
 unsatisfactory academic progress and, after consultation with the Program Director, will make
 recommendations, if appropriate, to the Program Directors Group. If the case is forwarded to the
 PDG, the student has a right to request to meet with the PDG. Upon review, the PDG makes a
 recommendation to the Chair.

Student Conduct Policies

Student Rights: Students will be given due process in disciplinary matters including a right to know of charges against them, the right to a hearing before a tribunal and the right to appeal to the President of the University. Students are adult members of the community and are subject to prosecution for criminal acts on or off campus. Campus police are state law enforcement officers with full powers of arrest. Students may not assume that activities on the campus provide them with any special protection.

Academic Honesty: Student Code of Conduct and Procedures are located at https://www.augusta.edu/student-life/conduct/.

The following is a statement of the responsibilities of students, as individuals and as groups at Augusta University. It is the official record of conduct rules and regulations affecting students. The responsibilities apply to the Augusta University campus, property of other units of the University System of Georgia, institutions with formal or informal agreements with Augusta University and AU sponsored functions on or off campus. The University recognizes that honesty and integrity are necessary to its academic function. The regulations (outlined in the above link) protect the equity and validity of the university's grades and degrees, and help students develop ethical standards and attitudes appropriate to academic and professional life. Violations of academic honesty include cheating of all kinds, plagiarism, fraudulent research activity and/or scholarship, collusion, and false statements made to avoid negative academic consequences.

Faculty Responsibility

It is the instructor's responsibility to practice and preserve academic honesty and to encourage it among students. The instructor should clarify in the course syllabus situations that may differ from the generally stated policy. The instructor, whenever possible, will explicitly state the intent and purpose of each assignment so that the student may complete the assignment without unintentionally committing academic honesty. It is the responsibility of the faculty member to provide appropriate oversight of assignments, examinations, internship components, and other course requirements. Finally, it is the responsibility of the instructor to provide the student with written notice of any suspected violations regarding the academic conduct policy.



Student Responsibility

It is the duty of the student to practice and preserve academic honesty. Each student should be aware of the specific policies governing academic conduct for the program(s) and course(s) in which he or she has enrolled as well as the grievance and appeals processes put in place for adjudicating such policies. If the student has any doubt about a situation, they should consult with their instructor. It is also the student's responsibility to maintain a correct address on record with Augusta University so that official notification of the student regarding academic misconduct can be carried out in a timely fashion.

Violations of Internship Expectations

When a student has violated one or more of the expectations for their Internship, the Internship Coordinator will determine whether the violation warrants a warning and/or dismissal. If the student continues to violate Internship expectations after receiving a warning, the student will be dismissed from the Internship.

Dismissal

The student will have the opportunity to appear before the Program Governance Committee to refute the facts, offer other information, or make any other statement concerning the proposed dismissal. See https://www.augusta.edu/compliance/policyinfo/policy/student-academic-grievance.pdf



Appendix A: Internship Work Plan

| Student's Name: | Phone Number: | | |
|--|---|-------------------|------------------------|
| Preceptor's Name: | • | | |
| Organization Name & Department/Division (if ap | oplicable): | | |
| Address: | City: | State: | Zip: |
| Telephone Number: | Fax Number: | l | 1 - |
| E-mail: | <u> </u> | | |
| Student's Career Objective Statement – This stat student's career objective, i.e. what public healt completion of the program. | | | |
| Student's Internship Objectives - Use the space target during the internship. Please match at le to each objective; use additional space if necess logically associated with and supportive of the | ast one core and concent sary. The objectives and c | ration compo | etencies* s must be |
| | | | |
| he student will work an averagehours per w | veek. Start Date: | Complete Date: | Date: |
| receptor's Signature: | | Date : | |



Appendix B: MPH Internship Abstract Form

| Concentration: |
|--|
| Probable date of ending the project: |
| |
| s achieving at least four (4) MPH Foundational petency. (refer to the attached MPH competency rnship): |
| |
| |



| Description | of the | project | (Max-200 | words): |
|-------------|--------|---------|----------|---------|
| | | | | |

| MPH Academic Advisor's Name: | |
|--|-------|
| MPH Academic Advisor's Signature: | Date: |
| Approval: | |
| Does not meet the criteriaMeets CriteriaExceeds the criteria | |
| Advisor's Comments: | |



Appendix C: MPH Internship Confirmation Form

Dear Internship Preceptor:

MPHC 8722 Course Coordinator

The purpose of this letter is to confirm your willingness to serve as a preceptor to a currently enrolled MPH student. As you are aware, students who enroll in the Master of Public Health at Augusta University are required to complete a practical field experience. As a program accredited by the Council of Education for Public Health (CEPH), the internship experience must emphasize the development of practical skills. CEPH states that "students must develop skills in basic public health concepts and demonstrate the application of these concepts through a practice experience that is relevant to the students' areas of specialization."

The MPHC 8722 Internship course serves as an experiential learning opportunity to hone selected public health competencies. Thus, the goal of the internship is to provide students with real-life experiences that prepare them for employment and/or promotion opportunities upon graduation.

Details regarding the requirements of internship, including the role of the Preceptor, are available in the MPH Internship Manual.

Please provide the following information and your signature to confirm your willingness to serve as a preceptor:

| Student Name: | |
|---|---|
| Your Name: | Title: |
| | |
| Your Email Address: | |
| Telephone Number: | |
| Name of Your Organization: | |
| Your Signature: | Date: |
| | |
| Please return this completed form to the participatir Public Health program. If you have any questions or atiwari@augusta.edu for internship information. | _ |
| Thank you for supporting our program and contribut professional! | ing to the development of a public health |
| Sincerely, | |
| | |
| | |



Appendix D: MPH Internship Rules

1. Securing a site

As stated in the Internship Manual and MPHC 8722 course syllabus, the goal of the Internship is to offer the student practical learning experiences in the areas of Health Informatics and health Management. It is the student's responsibility to secure an internship site; however, this task is completed with the assistance of the MPH Internship Coordinator

2. Orientation to Site

Once a site is secured, the student may be required to complete an orientation based on the site's policies that may include a background check, drug screen, and/or other administrative requirements. The costs associated with these items are the student's responsibility.

3. Reporting to the Site

- a. Student is required to wear Augusta University student identification while attending the intern site.
- b. Student is required to dress professionally, wearing business casual attire, unless otherwise required by the intern site.
- c. Schedule:
 - i. Student is required to develop a work schedule with their Preceptor.
 - ii. The work schedule is at the discretion of the Preceptor. Although the site may be flexible, student is required to consider the coursework a priority and must make every effort to meet the needs of the site.
 - iii. The on-site time amount varies based on the project and the agreement between the student and their Preceptor; however, a minimum of 125 before fall 2021 and 75 hours is required for the completion of the course/internship starting fall 2021.

4. Evaluation

During the course, the Preceptor's evaluation of the student at mid-term and at the end of the Internship will be submitted to the MPH Internship Coordinator for the final grade.

| result in my withdrawal from the Internship and/or | receive the MPHC 8722 course's failing grade. |
|--|---|
| Student Name: | |
| Student's Signature: | Date: |

I have read the above "MPH Internship Rules" and understand that my failure to abide by these rules may



Appendix E: MPH Internship Time Log

(To be completed and uploaded to D2L at the end of the Internship)

| Student N | lame: | | | | | | | | |
|------------|-------------|---------------|--------------|---------------|------------|--------------|----------|-------|-----------|
| Internshi | p Site: | | | | | | | | |
| Internshi | p Precepto | or: | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Week | Mon | Tues | Wed | Thurs | Fri | Sat | Sun | TOTAL | Preceptor |
| | | | | | | | | | Initial |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| Total Hou | ırs: | | | | | | | | |
| Site Prece | eptor Appr | oval: | | | | | | | |
| l am : | satisfied w | rith the prog | gress of the | e MPH Interr | nship | | | | |
| l am | NOT satisf | ied with the | e progress (| of the MPH I | nternship | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | |
| I have rev | iewed the | informatio | n as prepa | red by the st | tudent and | verify its a | ccuracy. | | |
| Site Prece | eptor's Sig | nature: | | | | | Da | te: | |



Appendix F: Preceptor's Evaluation of MPH Intern (Mid-term)

Dear Site Preceptor, Please complete this evaluation and review it with the MPH intern. The intern is responsible for submitting the signed form to the MPH program via Desire-To-Learn (D2L) assignment function. If you have any questions or concerns, please contact the Internship Coordinator. Thank you, MPH Internship Coordinator Please complete the below: Student Name: _____ Preceptor Name and Title: _____ Preceptor Email: ______ Phone: _____ 1. Has the intern made satisfactory progress on the objectives? ____Yes No If NO, please explain: 2. Do you anticipate that the intern will satisfactorily complete all the objectives set by the end of the internship experience? ____Yes ____No If NO, please explain: 3. Is the intern's work of professional quality? Yes No If NO, please explain:

4. Has the intern been punctual in his/her attendance? ____Yes ____No If NO, please explain:

Preceptor Signature: _____ Date: ____

Intern Signature: _____ Date: ____



Appendix G: Preceptor's Evaluation of MPH Intern (Final)

Dear Preceptor:

Please complete this evaluation of your intern. Your feedback on this survey will help us to evaluate and improve the MPH internship program for future MPH students. Your evaluation will be kept confidential; we will only share summary information in a way that no individual preceptor or student can be identified.

| Student Name: |
|---|
| Preceptor Name and Title: |
| Organization in which the Internship was served, including division/unit if applicable: |
| Date: |

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree |
|--|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|
| I. Using the scales, please indicate the degree to which the student fulfilled agreed-upon the time commitment, and completed internship assignments in the time frame agreed in advance. | | | | | |
| II. Using the scales, please indicate the degree to which the student demonstrated professionalism in her/his performance, appearance, and in all interactions with the Preceptor and with other employee in the organization. | | | | | |



III. Using the scales, please indicate the degree to which the student demonstrated that they met your expectations for each competency during the internship.

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree | NA |
|--|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|----|
| Evidence-based Approach | es to Public | Health | | | | |
| 1. Apply epidemiological methods to the breadth of settings and situations in public health practice. | | | | | | |
| 2. Select quantitative and qualitative data collection methods appropriate for a given public health context. | | | | | | |
| 3. Analyze quantitative and qualitative data using biostatistics, informatics, computerbased programing and software, as appropriate. | | | | | | |
| 4. Interpret results of data analysis for public health research, policy or practice. | | | | | | |
| Public Health & Health Ca | re System | 1 | • | ı | , | ' |
| 5. Compare the organization, structure and function of health care, public health and regulatory systems across national and international settings. | | | | | | |
| 6. Discuss the means by which structural bias, social inequalities and racism undermine health and create challenge to achieving health equity at organizational, community and societal levels. | | | | | | |

| Planning & Management | to Promote I | Health | | | |
|--|--------------|--------|---|--|---|
| 7. Access population needs, assets and capacities that affect communities' health. | | | | | |
| 8. Apply awareness of cultural values and practices to the design or implementation of public health policies or programs. | | | | | |
| 9. Design a population- based policy, program, project or intervention. | | | | | |
| 10. Explain basic principles and tolls of budget and resource management. | | | | | |
| 11. Select methods to evaluate public health programs. | | | | | |
| Policy in Public Health | T | | ı | | 1 |
| 12. Discuss multiple dimensions of the policy-making process, including the roles of ethics and evidence. | | | | | |
| 13. Propose strategies to identify stakeholders and build coalitions and partnership for influencing public health outcomes. | | | | | |
| 14. Advocate for political, social or economic policies and programs that will improve health in diverse populations. | | | | | |
| 15. Evaluate policies for their impact on public health and health equity leadership. | | | | | |



| 16. Apply principles of leadership, governance and management, which include creating a vision, empowering other, fostering | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| collaboration and guiding decision | | | |
| making. | | | |
| 17. Apply negotiation and mediation skills to address organizational or community challenges. | | | |

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree |
|--|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|----------------|
| Communication | | | | | |
| 18. Select communication strategies for different audience and sectors. | | | | | |
| 19. Communicate audience-appropriate public health content, both in writing and through oral | | | | | |
| 20. Describe the importance of cultural competence in communicating public health content. | | | | | |
| Interprofessional Prac | ctice | | | | |
| 21. Perform effectively on interprofessional teams. | | | | | |
| Systems Thinking | | | I | | |



| 22. Apply | | | |
|-------------------|--|--|--|
| system | | | |
| thinking tolls to | | | |
| a public health | | | |

| | Very Dissatisfied | Dissatisfied | Neutral | Satisfied | Very Satisfied |
|---|----------------------|--------------|---------|-----------|-------------------|
| IV. How satisfied were you with the student's performance | | | | | |

| V. Comments Section – Please respond to all of the f | e tollowing | llowing |
|--|-------------|---------|
|--|-------------|---------|

| 1. | Please provide an example(s) of competency area(s) in which the student |
|----|---|
| | demonstrated strengths. |

- 2. Please provide specific examples of the student's behavior or performance in any instance where the student did not meet your expectations for performance.
- 3. Please describe your overall impression of the student's performance.
- 4. Please identify any areas where the student's academic preparation for assigned work could be improved.
- 5. Please describe the value of the internship for your organization.

If you have the opportunity in the future, would you consider sponsoring another intern from the Augusta University MPH Program?

Yes

| _' | ٠. | , |
|--------|----|---|
| | | |
| | | |
| Ν | J۸ | |



Appendix H: Intern's Evaluation of the Internship

Dear Student:

Please complete this evaluation. Your feedback on this survey will help us to evaluate and improve the MPH Internship program for future MPH students. Your evaluation will be kept confidential; we will only share summary information in a way that no individual student or Preceptor can be identified.

| Student's Name: |
|---|
| Preceptor's Name and Title: |
| Organization in which the Internship was served, including division/unit if applicable: |
| Estimated total hours spent at the Internship site: |
| Date: |

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree |
|---|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|
| 1. The practice site preceptor fulfilled their responsibilities agreed upon as outlined in the syllabus for MPHC 8722. | | | | | |
| 2. The Preceptor was available and provided information and mentorship during the Internship. | | | | | |
| 3. My needs for resources, including space and computer equipment, were met during the Internship. | | | | | |
| 4. The Internship and the project allowed me to integrate course theory and content presented in the MPH program in a practice setting. | | | | | |
| 5. My faculty advisor was available to address questions and provide feedback during the internship. | | | | | |



COMPETENCY DOMAINS – Compare your confidence in your ability at the beginning of the MPH Internship to your ability at the end of the MPH Internship.

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree |
|---|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|
| Leadership | | | | | |
| I am more confident to share and articulate, model and reward professional values and ethics in a public health organization. | | | | | |
| I am more confident to demonstrate and reward cultural sensitivity and diversity and understand it in the health care sector. | | | | | |
| I am more confident in demonstrating a high level of emotional intelligence. | | | | | |
| 4. I am more confident in my ability to use effective team development methods and be an effective team player. | | | | | |
| 5. I am more confident in my ability to critically analyze information and situations. | | | | | |
| 6. I am more confident in my ability to use system and strategic thinking models and methods to make decisions and solve problems in the role of public health organizations. | | | | | |
| Systems Thinking | | | | | |
| I am more confident in my ability to apply basic concepts and tools that are integral to strategic planning and/or management in the public health sector. | | | | | |
| 2. I am more confident in my ability to understand, monitor, and interpret the impacts of legal, regulatory, and political environments on public health organizations. | | | | | |



| 3. I am more confident in my ability to apply a public health perspective to my public health discipline. | | | |
|---|--|--|--|
| Communication & Informatics | | | |
| I am more confident in my ability to apply concepts and tools of strategic planning and/or management. | | | |
| I am more confident in my ability to demonstrate an ability to apply a public health perspective to health care management. | | | |
| 3. I am more confident in my ability to interpret the impacts of legal, regulatory, and political environments in chosen discipline. | | | |

| | Strongly Disagree | Moderately Disagree | Neutral | Moderately Agree | Strongly Agree |
|---|----------------------|------------------------|---------|---------------------|-------------------|
| Professionalism | | | | | |
| I am more confident in my ability to identify all of the major stakeholders of chosen discipline within organizations and understand their interests. | | | | | |
| I am more confident in my ability to use consensus and conflict resolution to promote relationships in the organization. | | | | | |
| 3. I am more confident in my ability to listen and respond effectively to the ideas and thoughts of others. | | | | | |
| 4. I am more confident in my ability to speak clearly and effectively with individuals and in groups, in both formal and informal settings. | | | | | |

OVERALL

| | Very Dissatisfied | Dissatisfied | Neutral | Satisfied | Very Satisfied |
|--|----------------------|--------------|---------|-----------|-------------------|
| How satisfied were you with your internship experience, overall? | | | | | |



Do you have any suggestions?



Appendix I

CONTRACT DETAILS FORM

ALL FIELDS MUST BE COMPLETED IN ORDER TO PREPARE A CLINICAL AFFILIATION AGREEMENT (student rotations, etc.)

| DATE: |
|--|
| Name of Facility (as it should appear in agreement): |
| Name of Fieldwork Coordinator/Administrative Contact: (include title, certification, or designation) |
| Department: |
| Street Address: |
| Mailing Address (if different than Street Address): |
| City, State, Zip: |
| County: |
| Phone Number: |
| Fax Number: |
| Email Address: |

Submit the complete form to Ashwini Tiwari at atiwari@augusta.edu and Kim Dyches kidyches@augusta.edu